ISSUES AND ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. Mr. Setzer was denied his Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to

the effective assistance of counsel. 

ISSUE 1: The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee an

accused person the effective assistance of counsel. Here, 

defense counsel' s deficient performance deprived him of his

constitutional right to be present, to have a meaningful

opportunity to present his defense, and to a fair trial by an
impartial jury. Did counsel' s errors deprive Mr. Setzer of his
constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel? 

2. Defense counsel' s deficient performance deprived Mr. Setzer of his

Fourteenth Amendment due process right to a meaningful opportunity
to present his defense. 

3. Defense counsel' s deficient performance deprived Mr. Setzer of his

state constitutional right to appear and defend in person. 

4. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to request a continuance, after
learning that his client' s pain and medications prevented him from
fully participating in the trial. 

5. The trial court erred by adopting portions of "Findings of facts as to
issue ( 3)." 

6. The trial court erred by finding the defendant' s attorney discussed all
aspects of the case with him over the period of a year. 

7. The trial court erred by finding defendant to be an intelligent man with
no mental impairment or disability during the trial. 

8. The trial court erred by finding that Mr. Setzer wanted to go to trial, to
the extent that this finding suggests he wished to avoid delay. 

9. The trial court erred by finding that the defendant' s own testimony
concerning jury selection, although not completely accurate on a word - 
for -word basis with the record of proceedings, showed that he was

aware of the proceedings and communicated with his attorney during
the trial. 

10. The trial court erred by finding that Mr. Setzer failed to establish his
attorney was ineffective in failing to request a continuance. 

11. The trial court erred by adopting its conclusions of law. 



12. The trial court erred by concluding that the defendant failed to meet
his burden of establishing the right to reversal for ineffective
assistance of counsel. 

13. The trial court erred by concluding that Mr. Setzer failed to show his
trial attorney provided deficient representation. 

14. The trial court erred by concluding that Mr. Setzer' s claims are not
supported be the record of the proceedings. 

15. The trial court erred by concluding that Mr. Thayer provided able and
reasoned representation which is demonstrated in the record. 

16. The trial court erred by concluding that there was no showing of
prejudice to defendant which deprived him of the right to a fair trial. 

17. The trial court erred by concluding that Mr. Setzer is not entitled to
relief from personal restraint and his petition should be dismissed. 

ISSUE 2: An accused person has a constitutional right to be

present at trial. Here, Mr. Setzer asked his attorney to request a
continuance because he was in pain, highly medicated, and
unable to testify or to participate fully in his trial. Did trial
counsel' s failure to request a continuance violate Mr. Setzer' s

Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment right to the effective

assistance of counsel? 

ISSUE 3: The Fourteenth Amendment right to due process

guarantees an accused person a meaningful opportunity to

present her or his defense. Here, Mr. Setzer asked his attorney
to seek a continuance because he felt unable to testify at his
own trial. Was Mr. Setzer deprived of the effective assistance

of counsel when his attorney refused to request a continuance, 
and thereby denied him a meaningful opportunity to present his
defense? 

18. Defense counsel' s deficient performance deprived Mr. Setzer of his

Sixth and Fourteenth amendment right to a fair trial by an impartial
jury. 

19. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to seek disqualification of the
jury venire upon learning that his client believed the clerk had seated
the jury panel in a non - random manner. 
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20. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to seek disqualification of the
jury venire after the comments of a prospective juror tainted the jury
pool. 

21. The trial court erred by adopting portions of "Findings of facts as to
issue ( 1)." 

22. The trial court erred by finding that the court clerk followed proper
procure in the selecting juror' s names from the box. 

23. The trial court erred by finding that the clerk followed the procedure
in place at the time) of placing the slips of paper with the names in the

box, spinning the box, and selecting randomly for the order of seating. 

24. The trial court erred by finding that the clerk could not see into the
box. 

25. The trial court erred by finding that the only information on the slips
of paper were the names of prospective jurors; there was no

information on the slips of paper which would make it possible for the

clerk to select for any connection to the case. 

26. The trial court erred by finding that the clerk had no information or
possible bias to " stack the jury" against the defendant. 

27. The trial court erred by finding that there was no prejudice to the
defendant based upon the action of the clerk. 

28. The trial court erred by finding that Mr. Setzer' s attorney made tactical
decisions, challenging prospective jurors when he had legal cause as
can be seen from the record of the proceedings. 

29. The trial court erred by finding that counsel was not ineffective in
failing to challenge the entire jury panel or the legality of the process. 

30. The trial court erred by adopting portions of "Findings of facts as to
issue (2)." 

31. The trial court erred by finding the actual statements of the juror in the
presence of other jurors were very limited. 

32. The trial court erred by finding that an insufficient basis to challenge
the entire panel based on the negative opinion of one prospective juror

about a potential defense witness. 

33. The trial court erred by finding it highly unlikely the court would have
granted a challenge to the venire, if made. 
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34. The trial court erred by finding that counsel was not ineffective for
failing to challenge the entire panel based on the statement of Ms. 
Miles. 

ISSUE 4: The Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments guarantee a

fair trial by an impartial jury. Here, defense counsel
unreasonably failed to seek disqualification of the jury panel
based on non - random procedures employed by the court clerk
and on taint caused by the comments of one prospective juror. 
Was Mr. Setzer deprived of the effective assistance of counsel

when his attorney' s inaction? 

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Christopher Setzer hired a lawyer named Steven Thayer to help

him respond to charges that he' d threatened to kill the service manager at

Richie' s Tire Factory. The state alleged that Mr. Setzer made the threat

during a phone conversation in 2006. CP 1, RP 4 -5. 

During his career in the timber industry, Mr. Setzer suffered

numerous injuries, including injuries to his spine. RP 6. At the time of trial

in late 2007, he was under a doctor' s care, and had been prescribed pain

medication, including Vicodin, and Fentanyl. RP 9. He told his lawyer that

his condition and the medication made it difficult for him to participate in

the trial, and that he would not be able to testify. RP 12. He asked his

lawyer to seek a continuance. RP 11. Mr. Thayer did not do so. RP 80 -81. 

Before the start of jury selection, Mr. Setzer waited in the

courtroom while his attorney and the prosecutor discussed pretrial matters. 

F. 



He watched a court clerk select juror names from a box. The clerk did not

spin the box, and it appeared to Mr. Setzer that the clerk was selecting the

names from a particular part of the box. RP 13 - 16. He complained to his

attorney, but Mr. Thayer did nothing. RP 16 -17. 

Several potential jurors were customers of Richie' s Tire Factory. 

RP 18. Another prospective juror announced that she had gone to school

with Mr. Setzer' s witness and had a " negative" view of him based on

prior knowledge." RP 39 -40. Believing her comments tainted the entire

panel, Mr. Setzer asked his attorney to move for disqualification of the

panel. Mr. Thayer did not do so. RP 21. 

Mr. Setzer was convicted and he appealed. He submitted a

Statement of Additional Grounds pursuant to RAP 10. 10. In his SAG, he

argued that counsel' s deficient performance deprived him of the effective

assistance of counsel. The Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction, and

noted that the issues raised in his SAG could be addressed through a

Personal Restraint Petition. CP 24 -25. 

Mr. Setzer filed a PRP, in which he alleged ineffective assistance

based on three instances of deficient performance: ( 1) failure to seek

disqualification of the jury venire based on the clerk' s non - random

selection of prospective jurors, (2) failure to seek disqualification of the

panel after it was tainted by the comments of one prospective juror, and
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3) failure to seek a continuance based on Mr. Setzer' s condition and

prescription narcotics. CP 33 -48. The Court of Appeals transferred the

case to the superior court for a factfinding hearing and decision on the

merits. CP 24 -25. 

The trial court held a hearing in December of 2012. Mr. Setzer

testified that he' d asked his attorney to seek a continuance based on his

condition and the medications he was taking at the time.
1

The court

admitted an exhibit outlining the medication Mr. Setzer had been

prescribed in the months prior to trial. Ex. 2; RP 7 - 11. The court found

that Mr. Setzer wanted to go to trial and was not impaired. CP 367. The

court denied the request for relief on the basis of counsel' s failure to

request a continuance. CP 367 -368. 

Mr. Setzer also testified to his observations regarding the non- 

random seating of prospective jurors. RP 13 - 17. His lawyer, Mr. Thayer, 

recalled that his client had noted a problem with the procedure, but

admitted that he hadn' t taken any steps to investigate. RP 87 -88. 

The prosecution presented the testimony of a court clerk named

Dorene Shinbarger. The clerk had been fired from the clerk' s office for

failing to follow proper procedures. RP 56, 58 -59. She testified that her

1 His attorney, Mr. Thayer, testified and denied that Mr. Setzer had asked him to seek
additional time. He acknowledged that he knew Mr. Setzer was in pain and taking pain
medication at the time of trial. RP 79 -81, 108. 

no



usual practice was to seat jurors randomly, that she did not recall Mr. 

Setzer' s case, and that she had no reason to stack the jury against Mr. 

Selzer, but that a different clerk may have been the in -court clerk on that

day.
2

RP 53 -55. The state also introduced a partial transcript of the trial

proceeding. Ex. 4. This partial transcript included the trial judge' s

comment to jurors that " Doreen pulled all of your names out of a box at

random, and assigned a location to you in the courtroom here and on a

seating chart." Ex. 4, p. 6. 

The court found that the clerk followed the correct procedures. 

Based on this, the court concluded that defense counsel was not ineffective

for failing to seek disqualification of the panel, and denied relief. CP 364, 

Mr. Selzer testified regarding his recollection of the " taint" that

arose during jury selection. The court also considered a transcript of that

portion of jury selection. Ex. 4. The transcript excerpt indicates that a

prospective juror announced that she may have gone to school with Mr. 

Setzer' s primary witness. Ex. 4, P. 24. The judge asked "[ H] ow would

that affect you if he testified as a witness ?" She answered as follows: 

Prospective Juror]: Negative. It would be negative. 

The Court]: Okay. So you' ve already formed an opinion, then? 

Z Her name was listed on the court minutes. Ex 1. The trial judge also referred to her on the

record by her first name prior to jury selection. Ex. 4, p. 6. 
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Prospective Juror]: Based on my prior knowledge, correct. 
Ex. 4, p. 24. 

The prospective juror was excused for cause. Ex. 4, p. 24 -25. 

The court found this exchange was very limited and that it did not

provide a basis to challenge the entire jury panel. The court concluded

that Mr. Setzer had not been denied the effective assistance of counsel, 

and denied relief. CP 366, 368. 

Following the hearing, the superior court issued a Memorandum

Opinion and Order. The document included findings of fact. The court

denied and dismissed Mr. Setzer' s Personal Restraint Petition. CP 368. 

ARGUMENT

MR. SETZER WAS DEPRIVED OF HIS SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH

AMENDMENT RIGHT TO THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL. 

A. Standard of Review

Ordinarily, a person seeking relief through a personal restraint

petition must show that constitutional error caused actual and substantial

prejudice. See, e.g., In re Orange, 152 Wn.2d 795, 804, 100 P. 3d 291

2004). However, where the petitioner has not had a prior opportunity for

judicial review, this heightened threshold does not apply. In re Isadore, 

151 Wn.2d 294, 298 -299, 88 P. 3d 390 ( 2004). 

Instead, under such circumstances, a petitioner is entitled to relief

upon a showing that she or he is restrained (pursuant to RAP 16. 4( b)), and
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such restraint is unlawful (pursuant to RAP 16. 4( c)). Isadore, 151 Wn.2d

at 298 -299. Mr. Setzer has not had a prior opportunity for judicial review

of the three issues raised by his Petition. See State v. Setzer, Slip. Op. p. 2, 

152 Wn. App. 1004 ( 2009) ( " Setzer must raise his claims through a

personal restraint petition. ") Because of this, the more lenient standards

apply. Isadore, 151 Wn.2d at 298 -299. Mr. Setzer need not show actual

and substantial prejudice. Id. 

On direct appeal, an ineffective assistance claim presents a mixed

question of law and fact, requiring de novo review. State v. A.N.J., 168 Wn.2d

91, 109, 225 P.3d 956 (2010). This standard of review should apply in this

case because Mr. Setzer has not had a prior opportunity for appellate review

of these issues. Isadore, 151 Wn.2d at 298 -299. 

B. Mr. Setzer was denied his constitutional right to the effective

assistance of counsel. 

The right to counsel includes the right to the effective assistance of

counsel. U.S. Const. Amends. VI, XIV; Strickland v. Washington, 466

U.S. 668, 685, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 ( 1984). Counsel' s

performance is deficient if it falls below an objective standard of

reasonableness. State v. Kyllo, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P. 3d 177 ( 2009). 

Deficient performance prejudices the accused when there is a reasonable

probability that it affected the outcome of the proceeding. Id. 

E



The presumption that defense counsel performed adequately is

overcome when there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel' s

performance. State v. Reichenbach, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 ( 2004). 

Further, there must be some indication in the record that counsel was actually

pursuing the alleged strategy. See, e.g., State v. Hendrickson, 129 Wn.2d 61, 

78 -79, 917 P.2d 563 ( 1996) ( the state' s argument that counsel " made a tactical

decision by not objecting to the introduction of evidence of ... prior

convictions has no support in the record. "). 

1. Defense counsel unreasonably failed to seek a continuance
after being informed of Mr. Setzer' s condition and the
problems caused by his medications. 

An accused person has a right to be present at trial. U.S. Const. 

Amends. VI, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. State v. Wilson, 174 Wn. App. 

328, 347, 298 P.3d 148 ( 2013). In addition, due process guarantees an

accused person a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense. U.S. 

Const. Amend. XIV; Holmes v. South Carolina, 547 U.S. 319, 324, 126 S. Ct. 

1727, 164 L.Ed.2d 503 ( 2006). The accused must be allowed to present his

version of the facts so that the fact - finder may decide where the truth lies. 

State v. Maupin, 128 Wn.2d 918, 924, 913 P.2d 808 ( 1996); Washington v. 

Texas, 388 U. S. 14, 19, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 18 L.Ed.2d 1019 ( 1967); Chambers v. 

Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294 -95, 302, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L.Ed.2d 297

1973). 

10



The Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments also protect an accused

person' s right to testify at trial. Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 49 -52, 107

S. Ct. 2704, 97 L.Ed.2d 37 ( 1987). The state constitution explicitly guarantees

the " fundamental" right to testify. State v. Robinson, 138 Wn.2d 753, 758, 

982 P.2d 590 ( 1999). 

Trial continuances are governed by CrR 3. 3. Under that rule, the court

may continue the trial date to a specified date when such continuance is

required in the administration ofjustice and the defendant will not be

prejudiced in the presentation of his or her defense." CrR 3. 3( f)(2). Failure to

grant a continuance may deprive a defendant of a fair trial. State v. Purdom, 

106 Wn.2d 745, 725 P.2d 622 ( 1986); see also United States v. Flynt, 756

F. 2d 1352 (
91h

Cir. 1985). Furthermore, 

While efficient and expeditious administration is, of course, a most

worth -while objective, the defendant' s rights must not be overlooked

in the process through overemphasis upon efficiency and conservation
of the time of the court. 

State v. Watson, 69 Wn.2d 645, 651, 419 P.2d 789 ( 1966).
3

Factors relevant to the trial court' s decision on a continuance motion

include the moving party' s diligence, due process considerations, the need for

orderly procedure, the possible impact on the trial, and whether prior

3 See also State v. Oughton, 26 Wn. App. 74, 612 P.2d 812 ( 1980); State v. Hoggatt, 38
Wn.2d 932, 234 P.2d 495 ( 1951). 
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continuances have been granted. In re Welfare ofR.K, 176 Wn. App. 419, 

425, 309 P.3d 620 ( 2013); Flynt, 756 F. 2d at 1359. 

For example, in Flynt, the defendant sought a continuance to enable

him to consult with a psychiatrist in anticipation of presenting a diminished

capacity defense to a contempt charge. Flynt, 756 F.2d at 1356. The trial court

refused the request, and the case proceeded to hearing without expert

testimony. Flynt, 756 F.2d at 1356 -1357. The 9th Circuit Court of Appeals

reversed the convictions, finding that

Flynt' s only defense... was that he lacked the requisite mental

capacity. The district court' s denial of a continuance... effectively

foreclosed Flynt from presenting that defense. 

Flynt, 756 F.2d at 1358. 

In this case, Mr. Setzer was in pain caused by injuries he' d sustained

working in the timber industry. RP 6. At the time of trial, he took Vicodin

and Fentanyl. RP 9. His attorney knew that he was in pain, and that he was

on medication. RP 79. Although Mr. Setzer' s pain would likely endure, he

could have sought a change in prescription to a medication that had a smaller

effect on his mental clarity and his ability to participate in his own defense. In

particular, with a change in medication, Mr. Setzer would have been able to

take the witness stand and testify on his own behalf. Had the jury heard his

version of events, they might well have had a reasonable doubt about the

offense. See RP 29. 
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Under these circumstances, defense counsel should have submitted

Mr. Setzer' s continuance request to the trial court. Absent a motion, the trial

court did not have the opportunity to rule on the issue. Furthermore, the due

process considerations in favor of a continuance would have outweighed any

other consideration. R.K, 176 Wn. App. at 425. Defense counsel' s

assessment that the court would likely have denied a continuance request did

not relieve counsel of the obligation to pursue his client' s legitimate goal of

seeking additional time. Furthermore, when advised that Mr. Setzer' s

medication made him unable to testify, the court would likely have granted a

continuance request. 

The evidence does not support the trial court' s findings regarding the

continuance. In particular, the court' s findings erroneously imply that Mr. 

Setzer " wanted to go to trial" without delay. CP 367. Mr. Setzer' s testimony

shows that he asked his attorney to request a continuance. RP 11 - 12. 

His attorney' s testimony did not undermine this assertion: when asked

if Mr. Setzer told him he wanted a continuance because of the pain he was in, 

Mr. Thayer replied " I don' t remember ifhe did or not." RP 79 -80. When

asked what he would have done upon receiving a request, he repeated " I don' t

remember if he did that or not." RP 81. He speculated that he would have

discussed the matter with Mr. Setzer and that they would have " decided that

we needed to get it tried." RP 81. However, he also noted that he didn' t " feel
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comfortable talking in hypotheticals because I don' t really remember Chris

asking me to set it over again." RP 81. 

In light of this testimony, Mr. Selzer provided the only evidence

regarding his request for a continuance. Counsel' s statements that "[ W]e were

trying the case because he wanted us to" merely reflect Mr. Selzer' s decision

to go to trial rather than accept a plea. RP 80. Indeed, counsel noted " we

were trying the case then because that was when it was set for trial." RP 80.

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