COURT OF VACUUOTES

NO. 44558-1-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent

v.

CHRISTOPHER EUGENE SETZER, Appellant

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR CLARK COUNTY CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT CAUSE NO.07-1-00433-5

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Attorneys for Respondent:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK Prosecuting Attorney Clark County, Washington

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD, WSBA #37878 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County Prosecuting Attorney 1013 Franklin Street PO Box 5000 Vancouver WA 98666-5000 Telephone (360) 397-2261

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Christopher Eugene Setzer (hereafter 'Setzer') was charged by Information with one count of felony Telephone Harassment-Death Threat. CP 1. Setzer was found guilty as charged after a jury trial. CP 2. He received a standard range sentence. CP 6. Setzer appealed his conviction, which was affirmed by this Court in State v. Setzer, 152 Wn. App. 1004 (2009). Review was denied by the Supreme Court. State v. Setzer, 170 Wn.2d 1006 (2010). Setzer then filed a personal restraint petition under Court of Appeals case number 42816-4. The Court of Appeals transferred the personal restraint petition to the Superior Court of Clark County for a decision on the merits pursuant to RAP 16.12. CP 24-25. The Superior Court heard testimony on this matter on December 6, 2012, and issued its written Memorandum Opinion and Order, denying relief and dismissing Setzer's personal restraint petition. CP 360-68. Setzer now appeals the trial court's dismissal of his personal restraint petition. CP 372.

The evidence at trial showed that Setzer was a customer at Richie's Tire Factory. During his appointment he had a disagreement with Duane

McCollum, Service Manager, regarding whether damage was done to the interior of Setzer's dashboard during his service. Setzer was angry and discussed the issue with the owner of Richie's Tire Factor, yelling that McCollum had "messed up his truck." Setzer was ordered out of the shop. Setzer then parked his truck in an adjoining parking lot for two hours and stayed there. The next day, Setzer called and asked for McCollum. Setzer "immediately blew off the handle," telling McCollum he was going to sue; Setzer yelled and used profanity throughout the call and he told McCollum that he was "gonna come back and take care of [McCollum]...even if he had to kill [him.]" Police were called and responded to Richie's Tire factor; the officer noted McCollum was "clearly frazzled by what was said to him" and indicated he feared for his life. Setzer denied making any threats. *State v. Setzer*, 152 Wn. App. 1004 (2009); CP 369-70.

In voir dire, a juror identified as Dana Miles indicated she knew a Dean Gregory from Carson. CP 366. She stated she may have gone to school with him. The judge asked, "So if you know him, how would that affect you if he testifies as a witness?" CP 366. Ms. Miles responded, "Negative. It would be negative." CP 366. The court further asked, "So you've already formed an opinion then?" And the juror responded, "Based on my prior knowledge, correct." CP 366. The juror was then challenged for cause by defense counsel and the court excused her. CP 366.

At the fact-finding hearing in Setzer's personal restraint petition, his trial counsel, Steve Thayer testified. 12/06/12 RP at 60-93, 96-104. Thayer testified regarding the issue of jury selection and his choice not to challenge the entire jury panel. He indicated that his main concern in picking a jury was "to make sure that we don't have anybody sitting on the panel that's going to be unfair to my client. That's my main concern." 12/06/12 RP at 69. He further testified regarding jury selection,

Anybody that's done it knows that it's more of a deselection process than a selection process and what you're trying to do is de-select jurors who indicate in some way they may not be fair. You have a limited ability to do that. You can challenge for cause. If you challenge for cause, it's advisable tactically to make sure the challenge is successful so that you don't give the impression to the jury that you're being unreasonable. At the same time, you don't want anybody sitting on the jury that—that can be successfully challenged for cause. And then the other secondary priority is to make intelligent exercise of your preemptory challenges.

12/06/12 RP at 69-70. Thayer stated that his ultimate concern is whether the jury panel is going to be biased. 12/06/12 RP at 70-71. Regarding a juror who knows a witness, defense counsel believes this does not automatically mean that juror will be biased and on that information alone, a challenge for cause could be unsuccessful. 12/06/12 RP at 71. Defense counsel testified that he wants a high probability of succeeding if he mounts a challenge for cause in front of the jury panel. 12/06 RP at 71.

Regarding juror Ms. Miles, counsel did not believe that she had tainted the entire panel based on trial counsel's feeling for the jury venire, and the juror's comments that her opinion of a witness would be "negative,". Counsel described her statements as "a very brief exchange." 12/06/12 RP at 76. Defense counsel did not believe he would have been successful if he had moved to strike the entire jury panel and he believed it would have been "tactically inadvisable." 12/06/12 RP at 77. Counsel testified further regarding the possibility of moving to strike the entire jury panel,

It would have been a bloodbath and it just would have been damaging, I think, to my image and my image is important for my client's interests. You know, I—if we chal—if we make a challenge to a juror, we need to make sure that we're going to be successful. If we challenge the entire panel and we fail, I think that that would be detrimental, you know, because it would be, basically, we're impugning the integrity and impartiality of the entire panel to assume that they would be unfair or—unfair to my client just because one witness who said she had a negative impression of a witness had been excused for cause.

12/06/12 RP at 77. Further, counsel believed, "...that we got her out of there in time to prevent any real damage from being done." 12/06/12 RP at 78.

In its Memorandum of Opinion and Order on Setzer's personal restraint petition, the Superior Court found that Ms. Miles' statements in

the presence of the other jurors were very limited and that there was an insufficient basis to challenge the entire panel. CP 366. The Superior Court further found that it would have been highly unlikely the trial court would have granted a challenge to the entire jury panel. CP 366. The Superior Court found trial counsel was "experienced and capable" and that he "provided able and reasoned representation" to Setzer during trial. CP 368. The Superior Court found no evidence of deficient representation and no showing of prejudice. CP 368. The Superior Court denied relief. CP 368.

C. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

Setzer challenges the dismissal of his personal restraint petition in this direct appeal of the Superior Court's decision after the Court of Appeals transferred his personal restraint petition for a decision on the merits. He argues the facts presented at the hearing on his personal restraint petition proved his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to disqualify the entire jury venire after a potential juror expressed she knew one of the witnesses and had a negative opinion of him. However, Setzer's attorney's decision not to challenge the entire jury panel was a tactical decision he made based on his significant experience and know-how. Further, Setzer cannot show he was prejudiced by his

attorney's failure to move to disqualify the jury panel as it is unlikely the trial court would have granted such a motion. Setzer's claim for ineffective assistance of counsel fails.

"A decision of a superior court in a personal restraint proceeding transferred to that court for a determination on the merits is subject to review in the same manner and under the same procedure as any other trial court decision." RAP 16.14(b). This Court limits its review of a trial court's findings of fact to those to which error has been assigned. *State v. Hill*, 123 Wn.2d 641, 644, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). Setzer has not assigned error to any of the trial court's findings of fact. The trial court's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *See State v. Holm*, 91 Wn.App 429, 435, 957 P.2d 1278 (1998). This Court does not review the trial court's credibility determinations. *In re Pers. Rest. of Gentry*, 137 Wn.2d 378, 410-11, 972 P.2d 1250 (1999).

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee the right of a criminal defendant to effective assistance of counsel. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 685-86, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 229, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). In *Strickland*, the United States Supreme Court set forth the prevailing standard under the Sixth Amendment for reversal of criminal convictions

based on ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.* Under *Strickland*, ineffective assistance is a two-pronged inquiry:

First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the 'counsel' guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction ... resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable.

Thomas, 109 Wn.2d at 225-26 (quoting Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687); see also State v. Cienfuegos, 144 Wn.2d 222, 226, 25 P.3d 1011 (2011) (stating Washington had adopted the Strickland test to determine whether counsel was ineffective).

Under this standard, trial counsel's performance is deficient if it falls "below an objective standard of reasonableness." *Strickland*, 466

U.S. at 688. The threshold for the deficient performance prong is high, given the deference afforded to decisions of defense counsel in the course of representation. To prevail on an ineffective assistance claim, a defendant alleging ineffective assistance must overcome "a strong presumption that counsel's performance was reasonable." *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 862, 215 P.3d 177 (2009). Accordingly, the defendant bears the burden of establishing deficient performance. *State v.*

McFarland, 127 Wn.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). A defense attorney's performance is not deficient if his conduct can be characterized as legitimate trial strategy or tactics. *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 863; *State v. Garrett*, 124 Wn.2d 504, 520, 881 P.2d 185 (1994) (holding that it is not ineffective assistance of counsel if the actions complained of go to the theory of the case or trial tactics) (citing *State v. Renfro*, 96 Wn.2d 902, 909, 639 P.2d 737 (1982)).

A defendant can rebut the presumption of reasonable performance of defense counsel by demonstrating that "there is no conceivable legitimate tactic explaining counsel's performance." *State v. Reichenbach*, 153 Wn.2d 126, 130, 101 P.3d 80 (2004); *State v. Aho*, 137 Wn.2d 736, 745-46, 975 P.2d 512 (1999). Not all strategies or tactics on the part of defense counsel are immune from attack. "The relevant question is not whether counsel's choices were strategic, but whether they were reasonable." *Roe v. Flores-Ortega*, 528 U.S. 470, 481, 120 S. Ct. 1029, 145 L. Ed. 2d 985 (2000) (finding that the failure to consult with a client about the possibility of appeal is usually unreasonable).

To satisfy the second prong of the *Strickland* test, the prejudice prong, the defendant must establish, within reasonable probability, that "but for counsel's deficient performance, the outcome of the proceedings would have been different." *Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 862. "A reasonable

probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694; *Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d at 266; *Garrett*, 124 Wn.2d at 519. In determining whether the defendant has been prejudiced, the reviewing court should presume that the judge or jury acted according to the law. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694-95. The reviewing court should also exclude the possibility that the judge or jury acted arbitrarily, with whimsy, caprice or nullified, or anything of the like. *Id*.

Also, in making a determination on whether defense counsel was ineffective, the reviewing court must attempt to eliminate the "distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from the counsel's perspective at the time." *Id.* at 689. The reviewing courts should be highly deferential to trial counsel's decisions. *State v. Michael*, 160 Wn. App. 522, 526, 247 P.3d 842 (2011). A strategic or tactical decision is not a basis for finding error in counsel's performance *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689-91.

Setzer relies upon *Mach v. Stewart*, 137 F.3d 630 (9th Cir. 1997) to support his argument that the juror's comments during voir dire tainted the entire panel and therefore his attorney should have moved to have the entire panel disqualified. However, *Mach* is distinguishable from the facts of Setzer's case. *Mach* involved repeated, expert-like statements directly

concerning guilt. This case involved an isolated person, not as Setzer claims giving her opinion on a witness's veracity, but instead indicating she was biased about a potential witness in a negative way. The trial court found the "statements of the juror in the presence of other jurors were very limited." CP 366. This finding is uncontested on appeal.

Setzer's case is more factually similar to *State v. Alires*, 92 Wn. App. 931, 966 P.2d 935 (1998). In *Alires*, Division 3 of this Court recognized it was a legitimate trial strategy for a trial attorney to not pursue disqualification of jurors that he felt the trial court would not disqualify. *Alires*, 92 Wn. App. at 939. In *Alires*, some jurors made statements which could have been interpreted as evidence of bias and the trial attorney chose not to challenge these jurors because he did not want to antagonize any jurors by unsuccessfully challenging them. *Id.* The Court found that as the defendant's trial counsel's choice was a legitimate trial strategy it could not serve as a basis for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *Id.*

Setzer's case is strikingly similar to the situation in *Alires*. Though Setzer's attorney did move to strike a juror he felt was biased, he made a tactical decision not to risk antagonizing the remaining jurors and did not pursue a motion to strike the entire panel for that reason, and because he felt it would not have been a successful motion. 12/06/12 RP at 77 This

was a legitimate trial strategy and therefore cannot serve as a basis for Setzer's claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. A strategic or tactical decision is not a basis for finding error in trial counsel's performance. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689-91.

Even if this Court finds trial counsel's choice was not a legitimate trial strategy. Setzer cannot show prejudice. As the trial court found in deciding his personal restraint petition, it is unlikely the trial court would have granted this motion. CP 366. Setzer's extremely experienced trial counsel also believed the trial court would not have granted the motion. CP 366; 12/06/12 RP at 77 Setzer has not shown, and cannot show that this juror's statement caused jury bias or prejudice, or that his attorney would have been successful in moving to disqualify the entire panel. Setzer cannot meet the requirements of a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel.

D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

Setzer had the benefit of extremely experienced and effective counsel, who made many proper strategic and tactical decisions throughout trial. His legitimate trial tactics should not be disturbed.

Counsel's choice not to move to disqualify the entire jury panel was a

strategic and tactical decision he made with the best interest of his client in mind. Setzer received effective assistance of counsel and his appeal should be denied.

DATED this 8th day of January, 2013.

Respectfully submitted:

ANTHONY F. GOLIK

Prosecuting Attorney

Clark County, Washington

By:

RACHAEL R. PROBSTFELD

WSBA #37878

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney



IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

No. 44558-1-II

Clark Co. No. 07-1-00433-5

v.

DECLARATION OF

CHRISTOPHER EUGENE SETZER,

TRANSMISSION BY MAILING

Appellant.

: ss)

COUNTY OF CLARK

STATE OF WASHINGTON)

On January 8, 2014, I deposited in the mails of the United States of America a properly stamped and addressed envelope directed to the below-named individuals, containing a copy of the document to which this Declaration is attached.

TO:	David Ponzoha, Clerk	Jodi R Backlund
	Court Of Appeals, Division II	Attorney at Law
	950 Broadway, Suite 300	Backlund & Mistry
	Tacoma, WA 98402-4454	PO Box 6490
	·	Olympia WA 98507-6490

DOCUMENTS: Brief of Respondent

I declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the State of Washington that the foregoing is true and correct.

Date: January 8, 2014.

Place: Vancouver, Washington.